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Identification
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P.O. Box 2259
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Field Recorder:

Owner's Name: Concrete Technology Corporation

03/09/2009

City: Tacoma

Classification: Building

Resource Status: Comments:

State: WA Zip:

Within a District?

98401-2259

No

Contributing?

National Register:

Local District:

National Register District/Thematic Nomination Name:

Owner Address:

Description

Narrative

Historic Use: Commerce/Trade - Professional Current Use: Commerce/Trade - Professional

Plan: Rectangle Stories: 2 Structural System: Platform Frame

Changes to Plan: Intact Changes to Interior: Unknown

Changes to Original Cladding: Intact Changes to Windows: Slight

Changes to Other:

Other (specify):

Style:

Form/Type:

Cladding:

Foundation:

Roof Type: Roof Material:

Architecture/Landscape Architecture
Manufacturing/Industry
Study Unit Other
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Engineer: Anderson, Arthur and Thomas

Builder:

Survey/Inventory Eligible

Eligibility Status:

Determination Date:

Determination Comments:

Determined Eligible - SHPO

122107-37-FHWA determined on 6/3/2009

6/3/2009
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Architect: Price, Robert B.

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places:Yes

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): Yes - Local

Property potentially contributes to a historic district (National and/or local): Yes

The Concrete Technology Corporation added a second major production building to its Port of Tacoma 
facility in 1967 to accommodate the rising demand for precast building elements.  Production expansion 
in the 1970s included facilities for semi-automated casting of hollow-core slabs, and the construction of 
the existing 150’ x 500’ graving dock for the construction of floating concrete structures.

This success resulted in the expansion of the company’s facilities at the Port of Tacoma.  The original 
production facility, which is now the research and development laboratory, was constructed in 1951.  The 
company’s expansion in the 1950s included the construction of two office and administration buildings 
circa 1956 and completion of the main Structural Plant between 1956 and 1960.  Tacoma architect Robert 
B. Price is credited with the design of the administration buildings and the Structural Plant, along with 
Thomas and Arthur Anderson who provided the engineering.  Robert B. Price is recognized as one of the 
most prolific architects in the Tacoma area from the 1950s to the 1970s.  His work spanned a variety of 
building types, from single-family homes to banks and public buildings, but he is probably best known for 
his specialization in his design of schools throughout the Puget Sound region.  During his career, Price 
received 59 national, regional and local awards for design excellence. Among his award winning projects 
was the Tacoma Fire Station No. 17 (1955); the Joe Long Jr. House on American Lake (1956); Hoyt 
Elementary School in Tacoma (1958); and his own architectural Tacoma office (1963).  Many of Price’s 
other projects were featured in a variety of magazines including Sunset, House and Garden and 
Architectural Record.

The two-story administration building at 1123 Port of Tacoma Road was evaluated at a reconnaissance 
level in a cultural resources survey completed for the SR520 Pontoon Construction Project in the City of 
Tacoma, Pierce County, Washington.  The building is one of several structures that comprise the facilities 
of the Concrete Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It was constructed circa 1956, based on 
its appearance in aerial photographs in the collections of the Tacoma Public Library, and was designed by 
Robert B. Price, a well-known Tacoma architect.  The integrity of the building is fair due to possible 
alterations to the existing fenestration, including the full-height mirror-glass curtain wall at the south 
elevation.

The Andersons developed and promoted the technology of pre-stressed elements for construction 
throughout the 1950s and 1960s.  The company invented and marketed the Anderson Post-tensioning 
System, developed a family of bridge I-girders that was adopted by the Washington State Department of 
Transportation as a construction standard, and devised new methods for producing long hollow concrete 
members and segmental bridge construction, among other innovations.  The Concrete Technology 
Corporation’s success led to growth in sales and demand, and the company’s involvement in many 
significant, large capital improvement projects in the Pacific Northwest and across the country.

The Concrete Technology Corporation is recognized as being historically significant for having pioneered 
the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the United States. After serving in World War II, 
where he directed testing of a prototype of the United State’s first pre-stressed concrete bridge (the 
Walnut Lane Bridge in Philadelphia), Arthur R. Anderson and his brother Thomas Anderson moved back to 
Tacoma and founded Concrete Technology Corporation and ABAM Engineers.  The brothers, both 
engineers with degrees from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, established the company’s initial 
production facility in 1951 at the Port of Tacoma.  Pre-stressed concrete was a new technology in the 
United States, and the Andersons’ Tacoma facility was the first pre-stressing factory plant in the country.  
According to the company’s website, the modest four-employee company was the culmination of a 
yearlong investigation by the Andersons throughout Europe to see the few pre-stressed concrete 
structures in existence at that time.

Statement of 
Significance:
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The building’s east and west elevations are each five bays wide with large plate glass windows on both the 
first and second stories.  Nearly all of the bays are inset from the elevation and delineated by two-story 
high, engaged buttresses that end at the roof’s overhanging eaves.  The northernmost bay on the east 
elevation is not recessed and features a narrow ribbon of reflecting glass clerestory windows above an 
unadorned, stucco clad exterior wall. A freestanding abstract sculpted pillar of exposed concrete is 
present to the southeast of the entryway, marking the entrance to the facility.  It features four vertical 
columns set within a water feature.  Mature bush and tree specimens are present in front of the street 
facing elevation.  The mirror-glass window bank at the street facing elevation appears to be a later 
alteration.

The administration building is oriented to the north-south, with a secondary elevation facing south 
towards Port of Tacoma Road.  It has an irregular rectangular-shaped plan and wood-frame construction 
on a poured concrete foundation.  The building was originally designed in the Moderne style.  Its has a flat 
roof characterized by wide boxed overhangs.  The exterior walls are clad with stucco.  A smooth 
mullioned, mirrored glass curtain wall is present at the western half of the street-facing side elevation. 
The eastern half of this elevation is clad with pebble-textured stucco.  A one-story flat–roofed entryway is 
present at the building’s southeast corner.  It is supported by thin posts and has a rear wall clad in ceramic 
tile. The building’s front entrance, which is located in the entryway at a right angle to the street, has a pair 
of single-light glass doors in a metal frame.  The entry also features wide, flat concrete posts that double 
as brise-soleil for this recessed portion of the side elevation.

The property contains a two-story administration building, constructed circa 1956 for the Concrete 
Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It is one of four extant structures that make up the 
company’s industrial facility from the 1950s.  The other structures are grouped to the east and northeast 
of the building.  The administration building and structures of the adjacent research and development 
laboratory are located within a rectangular area of land, defined by a mature hedgerow.  The entire area 
between the buildings has been paved with concrete.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance:

Based on our review, the property has fair integrity and appears eligible for individual listing in the 
National Register of Historic Places, or as a contributor to an eligible historic district associated with the 
Concrete Technology Corporation.

The property has been evaluated according to the eligibility criteria for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places (NRHP).  The property appears eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criteria A and C at the 
local level of significance.  Under NRHP Criterion A, the administration building is considered historically 
significant for its association with the Concrete Technology Corporation and its pioneering role in the 
development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the United States.  Under NRHP Criterion C, the 
building embodies the characteristics and method of construction of the Modern style in 1950s, and is a 
commercially designed building associated with Robert B. Price, who is considered a well-known master 
architect in the Tacoma area, and engineers Arthur and Thomas Anderson.  The administration building 
strongly exhibits its style and, except for alterations to the fenestration, the building remains essentially 
unaltered and retains good integrity.

Thousands of bridges, buildings, piers, tanks, floats and other structures throughout the Pacific Northwest 
and Alaska have been constructed with Concrete Technology Corporation products, in addition to other 
projects throughout the United States.  The company manufactured structural members for the original 
Seattle monorail, the Disney World monorail, the Interstate-90 lid, Freeway Park in Seattle, and most 
freeway overpasses in the region. The facility was also involved in casting beams for Safeco Field and 
Husky Stadium. It now focuses on beams and pilings.
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Washington State Digital Archives

Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps

girders.”  Puget Sound Business Journal, 6 June 2008.

Wilhelm, Steve.  “Pioneer firm, Concrete Technology, stretches technology of strong

Tacoma Public Library Image Archives—Port of Tacoma Aerial Photographs

Docomomo-WEWA.  “Price, Robert B.”  http://www.docomomo-wewa.org/architects_detail.php?id=73.  
2009.

Concrete Technology Corporation Website.  http://www.concretetech.com/history.htm.

Pierce County Tax Assessor Online Records

Beers, Carole.  “Arthur R. Anderson, 85, Pioneer In Concrete Construction Methods.” The Seattle Times, 5 
July 1995.
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Bibliographic 
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Historic Property Inventory Report

Thursday, October 07, 2010 Page 6 of 20

Photos

South and East Elevations, Looking North South and East Elevations, Looking North
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Architect:

Engineer: Anderson, Arthur and Thomas

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places:Yes

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): Yes - Local

Property potentially contributes to a historic district (National and/or local): Yes

1951 Built Date

Thousands of bridges, buildings, piers, tanks, floats and other structures throughout the Pacific Northwest 
and Alaska have been constructed with Concrete Technology Corporation products, in addition to other 
projects throughout the United States.  The company manufactured structural members for the original 
Seattle monorail, the Disney World monorail, the Interstate-90 lid, Freeway Park in Seattle, and most 
freeway overpasses in the region. The facility was also involved in casting beams for Safeco Field and 
Husky Stadium. It now focuses on beams and pilings.

This success resulted in the expansion of the company’s facilities at the Port of Tacoma.  The original 
production facility, which is now the research and development laboratory, was constructed in 1951.  The 
company’s expansion in the 1950s included the construction of two office and administration buildings 
circa 1956 and completion of the main Structural Plant between 1956 and 1960.  The Concrete 
Technology Corporation added a second major production building to its Port of Tacoma facility in 1967 to 
accommodate the rising demand for precast building elements.  Production expansion in the 1970s 
included facilities for semi-automated casting of hollow-core slabs, and the construction of the existing 
150’ x 500’ graving dock for the construction of floating concrete structures.

The two-story laboratory building at 1123 Port of Tacoma Road was evaluated at a reconnaissance level in 
a cultural resources survey completed for the SR520 Pontoon Construction Project in the City of Tacoma, 
Pierce County, Washington.  The building is one of several structures that comprise the facilities of the 
Concrete Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It was constructed in 1951, based on historical 
information and its appearance in aerial photographs in the collections of the Tacoma Public Library.  The 
building appears to be essentially unaltered.

The Andersons developed and promoted the technology of pre-stressed elements for construction 
throughout the 1950s and 1960s.  The company invented and marketed the Anderson Post-tensioning 
System, developed a family of bridge I-girders that was adopted by the Washington State Department of 
Transportation as a construction standard, and devised new methods for producing long hollow concrete 
members and segmental bridge construction, among other innovations.  The Concrete Technology 
Corporation’s success led to growth in sales and demand, and the company’s involvement in many 
significant, large capital improvement projects in the Pacific Northwest and across the country.

The Concrete Technology Corporation is recognized as being historically significant for having pioneered 
the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the United States. After serving in World War II, 
where he directed testing of a prototype of the United State’s first pre-stressed concrete bridge (the 
Walnut Lane Bridge in Philadelphia), Arthur R. Anderson and his brother Thomas Anderson moved back to 
Tacoma and founded Concrete Technology Corporation and ABAM Engineers.  The brothers, both 
engineers with degrees from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, established the company’s initial 
production facility in 1951 at the Port of Tacoma.  The initial production facility appears to have consisted 
of what are now the laboratory building and an adjacent one-story building immediately to the north.  Pre
-stressed concrete was a new technology in the United States, and the Andersons’ Tacoma facility was the 
first pre-stressing factory plant in the country.  According to the company’s website, the modest four-
employee company was the culmination of a yearlong investigation by the Andersons throughout Europe 
to see the few pre-stressed concrete structures in existence at that time.

Statement of 
Significance:
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The laboratory building is oriented to the east-west situated parallel to the north side of Port of Tacoma 
Road.  It has a rectangular-shaped plan and consists of wood-frame construction on a poured concrete 
foundation.  The building was originally designed in a modernist style exhibiting International style 
influences in an industrial form.  The roof is a low-pitched (nearly flat) side-gable roof clad with 
composition asphalt shingles and featuring exposed structural beams in the gable ends.  The exterior 
walls are finished with smooth stucco.  The building’s north and south elevations are similarly designed.  
Each elevation is seven bays wide with large banks of ribbon windows on the second story of each bay.  
The banks of windows each consist of two stacked rows of clerestory windows with eight openings in each 
row.  The openings contain single-pane fixed sash windows set in from the exterior wall with no visible 
window frame.  A narrow band course separates the first story from the second, and a narrow, two-story, 
reverse-angled, engaged buttress ending at the roof’s overhanging eaves defines each bay.  The north 
elevation is further articulated by large vehicular freight door openings in two of the center bays and a 
second-story pedestrian entrance, accessed by a flight of steps, at the building’s northwest corner.  
Additional door openings are located on the building’s east and west elevations.  The secondary 
elevations are further characterized by a small shed-roofed one-story addition at the east elevation, and 
four twelve-light fixed industrial sash windows at the west elevation—three on the second story and one 
on the first.

The property contains a two-story industrial building, constructed in 1951 for the Concrete Technology 
Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It functions as the part of the company’s research and design 
laboratory, and is one of four extant structures that make up the company’s industrial facility from the 
1950s.  The other structures are located to the west and northeast of the building, with a smaller one-
story structure situated immediately to the north.  The laboratory building and two other structures are 
located within a rectangular area of land, defined by a mature hedgerow.  The entire area between the 
buildings has been paved with concrete.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance:

Based on our review, the property has good integrity and appears eligible for individual listing in the 
National Register of Historic Places, or as a contributor to an eligible historic district associated with the 
Concrete Technology Corporation.

The property has been evaluated according to the eligibility criteria for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places (NRHP).  The property appears eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criteria A and C at the 
local level of significance, and possibly at the state or national levels as well.  Under NRHP Criterion A, the 
laboratory building is considered historically significant for its association with the Concrete Technology 
Corporation and its pioneering role in the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the 
United States.  Under NRHP Criterion C, the building embodies the characteristics and method of 
construction of a pre-stressed concrete industrial plant from the early 1950s and is recognized as being 
the first of its kind in the United States.  The laboratory building strongly exhibits its style and 
associations, and remains essentially unaltered with good integrity.
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Photos

West and South Elevations, Looking East
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Architect:

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places:Yes

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): Yes - Local

Property potentially contributes to a historic district (National and/or local): Yes

Thousands of bridges, buildings, piers, tanks, floats and other structures throughout the Pacific Northwest 
and Alaska have been constructed with Concrete Technology Corporation products, in addition to other 
projects throughout the United States.  The company manufactured structural members for the original 
Seattle monorail, the Disney World monorail, the Interstate-90 lid, Freeway Park in Seattle, and most 
freeway overpasses in the region. The facility was also involved in casting beams for Safeco Field and 
Husky Stadium. It now focuses on beams and pilings.

This success resulted in the expansion of the company’s facilities at the Port of Tacoma.  The original 
production facility, which is now the research and development laboratory, was constructed in 1951.  The 
company’s expansion in the 1950s included the construction of two office and administration buildings 
circa 1956 and completion of the main Structural Plant between 1956 and 1960.  The Concrete 
Technology Corporation added a second major production building to its Port of Tacoma facility in 1967 to 
accommodate the rising demand for precast building elements.  Production expansion in the 1970s 
included facilities for semi-automated casting of hollow-core slabs, and the construction of the existing 
150’ x 500’ graving dock for the construction of floating concrete structures.

The one-story research building at 1123 Port of Tacoma Road was evaluated at a reconnaissance level in a 
cultural resources survey completed for the SR520 Pontoon Construction Project in the City of Tacoma, 
Pierce County, Washington.  The building is one of several structures that comprise the facilities of the 
Concrete Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It was constructed in 1951, based on historical 
information and its appearance in aerial photographs in the collections of the Tacoma Public Library.  The 
building appears to be essentially unaltered.

The Andersons developed and promoted the technology of pre-stressed elements for construction 
throughout the 1950s and 1960s.  The company invented and marketed the Anderson Post-tensioning 
System, developed a family of bridge I-girders that was adopted by the Washington State Department of 
Transportation as a construction standard, and devised new methods for producing long hollow concrete 
members and segmental bridge construction, among other innovations.  The Concrete Technology 
Corporation’s success led to growth in sales and demand, and the company’s involvement in many 
significant, large capital improvement projects in the Pacific Northwest and across the country.

The Concrete Technology Corporation is recognized as being historically significant for having pioneered 
the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the United States. After serving in World War II, 
where he directed testing of a prototype of the United State’s first pre-stressed concrete bridge (the 
Walnut Lane Bridge in Philadelphia), Arthur R. Anderson and his brother Thomas Anderson moved back to 
Tacoma and founded Concrete Technology Corporation and ABAM Engineers.  The brothers, both 
engineers with degrees from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, established the company’s initial 
production facility in 1951 at the Port of Tacoma.  The initial production facility appears to have consisted 
of what are now the research building and an adjacent two-story building immediately to the south.  Pre-
stressed concrete was a new technology in the United States, and the Andersons’ Tacoma facility was the 
first pre-stressing factory plant in the country.  According to the company’s website, the modest four-
employee company was the culmination of a yearlong investigation by the Andersons throughout Europe 
to see the few pre-stressed concrete structures in existence at that time.

Statement of 
Significance:
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Attached to the building’s north elevation is the large secondary structure.  The structure has a wide 
rectangular plan.  It has a flat roof punctuated by several mechanical units and metal ductwork.  The north 
and south elevations are each six bays wide.  Vertical pilasters define each bay.  Except for a single door 
opening on the north elevation, the north and south elevations are otherwise unadorned.  The building’s 
east and west elevations each contain a row of clerestory windows.  There are six windows on the west 
elevation and four on the east.  The east elevation also contains freight door openings at the section’s 
southeast corner.

The research building is oriented to the east-west situated parallel to the north side of Port of Tacoma 
Road.  It has two sections, consisting of what could be defined as two attached buildings.  Situated to the 
south, one has a rectangular-shaped plan and consists of wood-frame construction on a poured concrete 
foundation.  It exhibits a modernist style similar to that of the adjacent two-story industrial building, with 
International style influences.  The roof is a low-pitched (nearly flat) side-gable roof clad with composition 
roofing and featuring open eaves with wide fascia.  The exterior walls are finished with smooth stucco.  
The building’s south elevation is four bays wide.  Horizontal, eight-light industrial sash windows with a 
wood sill punctuate all but one of the bays.  The elevation’s westernmost bay contains a larger multiple-
light fixed window.  Reverse-angled, engaged buttresses ending at the roof’s overhanging eaves defines 
each bay.  The structure’s east and west elevations are each punctuated by three-regularly space multiple
-light windows with wood sills.

The property contains a one-story industrial building, constructed in 1951 for the Concrete Technology 
Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It functions as the part of the company’s research and design 
laboratory, and is one of four extant structures that make up the company’s industrial facility from the 
1950s.  The other structures are located to the west and northeast of the building, with a two-story 
industrial building situated immediately to the south.  The research building and two other structures are 
located within a rectangular area of land, defined by a mature hedgerow.  The entire area between the 
buildings has been paved with concrete.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance:

Based on our review, the property has good integrity and appears eligible for listing in the National 
Register of Historic Places as a contributor to an eligible historic district associated with the Concrete 
Technology Corporation.

The property has been evaluated according to the eligibility criteria for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places (NRHP).  The property appears eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criteria A and C at the 
local level of significance, and possibly at the state or national levels as well.  Under NRHP Criterion A, the 
research building is considered historically significant for its association with the Concrete Technology 
Corporation and its pioneering role in the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the 
United States.  Under NRHP Criterion C, the building embodies the characteristics and method of 
construction of a pre-stressed concrete industrial plant from the early 1950s and is recognized as being 
the first of its kind in the United States.  The research building strongly exhibits its style and associations, 
and remains essentially unaltered with good integrity.
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Photos

West and South Elevations, Looking East
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Architect: Price, Robert B.

Engineer: Anderson, Arthur and Thomas

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places:Yes

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): Yes - Local

Property potentially contributes to a historic district (National and/or local): Yes

This success resulted in the expansion of the company’s facilities at the Port of Tacoma.  The original 
production facility, which is now the research and development laboratory, was constructed in 1951.  The 
company’s expansion in the 1950s included the construction of two office and administration buildings 
circa 1956 and completion of the Structural Plant between 1956 and 1960.  Tacoma architect Robert B. 
Price is credited with the design of the administration buildings and the Structural Plant, along with 
Thomas and Arthur Anderson who provided the engineering.  Robert B. Price is recognized as one of the 
most prolific architects in the Tacoma area from the 1950s to the 1970s.  His work spanned a variety of 
building types, from single-family homes to banks and public buildings, but he is probably best known for 
his specialization in his design of schools throughout the Puget Sound region.  During his career, Price 
received 59 national, regional and local awards for design excellence. Among his award winning projects 
was the Tacoma Fire Station No. 17 (1955); the Joe Long Jr. House on American Lake (1956); Hoyt 
Elementary School in Tacoma (1958); and his own architectural Tacoma office (1963).  Many of Price’s 
other projects were featured in a variety of magazines including Sunset, House and Garden and 
Architectural Record.

The Structural Plant at 1123 Port of Tacoma Road was evaluated at a reconnaissance level in a cultural 
resources survey completed for the SR520 Pontoon Construction Project in the City of Tacoma, Pierce 
County, Washington.  The plant is one of several structures that comprise the facilities of the Concrete 
Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It was constructed in 1956-1960, based on historical 
information and its appearance in aerial photographs in the collections of the Tacoma Public Library.  
Some of the plant’s fenestration has been modified and several small additions added, but overall it 
appears to have good integrity.

The Andersons developed and promoted the technology of pre-stressed elements for construction 
throughout the 1950s and 1960s.  The company invented and marketed the Anderson Post-tensioning 
System, developed a family of bridge I-girders that was adopted by the Washington State Department of 
Transportation as a construction standard, and devised new methods for producing long hollow concrete 
members and segmental bridge construction, among other innovations.  The Concrete Technology 
Corporation’s success led to growth in sales and demand, and the company’s involvement in many 
significant, large capital improvement projects in the Pacific Northwest and across the country.

The Concrete Technology Corporation is recognized as being historically significant for having pioneered 
the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the United States. After serving in World War II, 
where he directed testing of a prototype of the United State’s first pre-stressed concrete bridge (the 
Walnut Lane Bridge in Philadelphia), Arthur R. Anderson and his brother Thomas Anderson moved back to 
Tacoma and founded Concrete Technology Corporation and ABAM Engineers.  The brothers, both 
engineers with degrees from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, established the company’s initial 
production facility in 1951 at the Port of Tacoma.  The initial production facility appears to have consisted 
of what are now two buildings associated with the company’s research and development laboratory 
located to the southwest of the Structural Plant.  Pre-stressed concrete was a new technology in the 
United States, and the Andersons’ Tacoma facility was the first pre-stressing factory plant in the country.  
According to the company’s website, the modest four-employee company was the culmination of a 
yearlong investigation by the Andersons throughout Europe to see the few pre-stressed concrete 
structures in existence at that time.

Statement of 
Significance:
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The plant’s easternmost section is two-stories tall and continues the roof configuration and overall design 
of the other two sections.  It consists of an enclosed warehouse area.  There is an exterior freight 
entrance in the center of the section’s south elevation.
In addition to the three-part central massing and craneways, the structural plant contains an integrated 
concrete production facility at its northeast corner and several smaller one-story additions along the east 
and west elevations.  The concrete production facility is characterized by pairs of engaged, free-standing 
concrete silos, metal storage tanks set on steel frame bases, conveyors, and a two-story metal support 
structure.

The central massing’s center section is three-stories tall and has a similarly designed barrel vaulted roof.  
The roof shelters a full-height production area that is completely open on the north and south elevations.  
The section’s eastern elevation is characterized by a band of clerestory windows in the ends of the roof’s 
barrel vaults.  Extending north and south of the central section are large concrete structural beams and 
support columns that form craneways in and out of the plant.  The craneways extend from the plant north 
into the Blair Waterway and south to Port of Tacoma Road.

The property contains a two to three-story industrial plant, constructed in 1956-1960 for the Concrete 
Technology Corporation at the Port of Tacoma.  It functions as the main structural plant for the 
construction of pre-stressed concrete products, and is one of four extant structures that make up the 
company’s industrial facility from the 1950s.  The other structures are located to the southwest of the 
plant.  The entire area between the buildings has been paved with concrete.
The structural plant is oriented to the north-south situated perpendicular to the north side of Port of 
Tacoma Road and south of the Blair Waterway.  Much of the plant is contained within a three-part central 
massing that has an irregular rectangular plan and poured concrete construction.  The three sections 
stand parallel to each other on a north-south axis.  The westernmost section is two-stories tall and 
contains enclosed office and warehouse space.  It has a unique roof comprised of a series of cast concrete 
barrel vaults set side by side in a north-south configuration.  The section’s south elevation, and a portion 
of its west elevation, was originally designed with International style elements and feature courses of 
ribbon windows on the first and second stories.  The structural plant’s main entrance is located in the 
center of the first story of the south elevation.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance:

Based on our review, the property has good integrity and appears eligible for individual listing in the 
National Register of Historic Places, or as a contributor to an eligible historic district associated with the 
Concrete Technology Corporation.

The property has been evaluated according to the eligibility criteria for listing in the National Register of 
Historic Places (NRHP).  The property appears eligible for listing in the NRHP under Criteria A and C at the 
local level of significance, and possibly at the state or national levels as well.  Under NRHP Criterion A, the 
Structural Plant is considered historically significant for its association with the Concrete Technology 
Corporation and its pioneering role in the development of the pre-stressed concrete industry in the 
United States.  Under NRHP Criterion C, the building embodies the characteristics and method of 
construction of a pre-stressed concrete industrial plant from the late 1950s and is an industrial design 
associated with Robert B. Price, who is considered a well-known master architect in the Tacoma area, and 
engineers Arthur and Thomas Anderson. The Structural Plant strongly exhibits its style and associations, 
and remains largely unaltered with good integrity.

Thousands of bridges, buildings, piers, tanks, floats and other structures throughout the Pacific Northwest 
and Alaska have been constructed with Concrete Technology Corporation products, in addition to other 
projects throughout the United States.  The company manufactured structural members for the original 
Seattle monorail, the Disney World monorail, the Interstate-90 lid, Freeway Park in Seattle, and most 
freeway overpasses in the region. The facility was also involved in casting beams for Safeco Field and 
Husky Stadium. It now focuses on beams and pilings.
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Washington State Digital Archives

Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps

girders.”  Puget Sound Business Journal, 6 June 2008.
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2009.
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Beers, Carole.  “Arthur R. Anderson, 85, Pioneer In Concrete Construction Methods.” The Seattle Times, 5 
July 1995.
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Photos

South Elevation, Looking Northeast

Structural Plant, Looking East

South Elevation, Looking Northeast

South Elevation, Looking East
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West and South Elevations, Looking Northeast
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Field Site No.: OAHP No.:

Historic Name: Port of Olympia Rail Line Common Name: Port of Olympia Rail Line
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Cladding Roof MaterialFoundation

NARRATIVE SECTION

Architect:

Engineer:

Date Of Construction: 1929

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places: No

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): No

As the fledgling Washington territory expanded, competition between cities was intense to establish a rail terminal, but Tacoma won out over Olympia in 1873, even though 
Olympia had the best claim as state capital and the Northern Pacific had purchased land in Olympia via an agent. The agent died just before the terminal decision was to be 
made. It would have taken too long to straighten out the legalities of property ownership and the decision went to Tacoma (Miller 1921). Olympia was bypassed all together for the 
time being and passengers had to disembark from the train in Tenino and take a wagon to Olympia (Stevenson and Fowler). Fears of economic loss and suggestions that the 
capital should actually be moved to a more accessible location drove the citizens of Olympia to take matters into their own hands (Miller 1921).

In 1878 the citizens of Olympia constructed a narrow gauge spur line from the main line in Tenino. Nearly every citizen in the cash-strapped Olympia subscribed to the initial fund 
by contributing cash, land, materials and labor. Money was raised in part by exchanging land for stock. Once Congress passed a bill allowing the county to issue bonds, 
construction could begin (Miller 1921). 

Dubbed the “Tenino Cannonball” because of the way the train pitched and rolled down the roller coaster road bed on homemade cars (Dwelley 1987, Newell 1985), this narrow 
gauge line was purchased by the Port Townsend Southern Railway (PT&S) in 1890. The line came into town from the south onto a trestle on the west side of the Deschutes 
waterway and under the 4th Avenue Bridge to terminate at a depot on West Bay Drive. Olympia was able to fend off attempts by other cities to wrest away the capital and thus 
become successful as a major lumber export and milling center for years to follow (Dwelley 1987). The PT&S became a subsidiary of the Northern Pacific Railroad in 1902 
(Hannum 2006), but the railroad is now abandoned (Robins & Martin 2007). 

By 1891 the Northern Pacific had constructed its own branch line on another route from Tacoma to Grays Harbor, with a spur to Olympia (Newell 1950). However, this proved 
inadequate because the Northern Pacific Railroad did not actively support the development of the Olympia waterfront (Hannum 2006).

In 1909-1911, much of the today’s downtown area north of Olympia Avenue and the Deschutes Parkway were filled from intensive dredging of the bay (Stevenson 1982). This 
dynamic dredging operation—called the Carlyon Fill after its originator, P.H. Carlyon—extended the original Olympia area nearly a mile to the north from Olympia Avenue, creating 
29 new city blocks from over 2 million cubic yards of fill (Stevenson and Fowler 1997). 

In response to newly created development on the waterfront, the Olympia Terminal Railway Company was created and incorporated by Carlyon with plans to connect rail service 
with the Northern Pacific’s Point Defiance line. Once the line was completed between the waterfront and East Olympia, ownership was deeded on the very last day of 1915 to a 
subsidiary of the Union Pacific Railroad—the Oregon Washington Railroad and Navigation Company. This transaction was the death knell to the PT&S which soon abandoned all 
of its line south of Capitol Lake (Hannum 2006).

In 1916, the Northern Pacific completed its Point Defiance line. After that the Northern Pacific and the Union Pacific’s Oregon Washington Railway and Navigation company both 
maintained mainline service to the East Olympia depot (Dwelley 1987).

A vote of the citizens of Thurston County later established the Port of Olympia on November 7, 1922, capitalizing on Legislation in 1911 to allow the formation of port districts. The 

Statement of 
Significance

Study Unit Other

Roof Type
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Property potentially contributes to a historic district (National and/or local):

Transportation
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CommunityPlanning/Development
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first vessel shipped out in 1925. 

Once the Port of Olympia was established, industrial development continued including the placement of railroad tracks extending from downtown Olympia the length of the fill. 
Railroad beltlines were included in the list of improvements for the Port fill. More tracks were installed later, and the alignment has been altered many times over the years. Tracks 
were extended further north in 1943 and a locomotive boom crane was acquired. Once this was accomplished, the Port installed additional tracks, terminal and connections to the 
Union Pacific Railroad in 1945 to facilitate increased shipments for the war effort (Stevenson and Fowler 1997). The alignement has been altered numerous times over the years 
to meet the needs of the Port of Olympia. Tthe railroad segments within the APE are not eligible for listing in the NRHP.

Dwelley, Arthur G. 
1987, “The Cannonball: Rails to the Capital via Tenino” in Columbia Magazine, fall 1987.

Hannum, James S. Hannum
2006, South Puget Sound Railroad Mania. Illustrated by Carol B. Hannum. Hannum House Publications, Olympia.

Miller, William Winlock
1921, “The Olympia Narrow Gauge Railroad” in Washington Historical Quarterly 16 (1921): 243-250.

Newell, Gordon
1950, So Fair A Dwelling Place: A History of Olympia and Thurston County, Washington.  The Olympia News Publishing Company, Olympia.

Robbins, Jeff, and Dan Martin
2007, Archaeological site form for the Roadbed of the Olympia and Chehalis Valley Railroad on file at the DAHP, Olympia.

Stevenson, S.
1982, Olympiana: Historical Vignettes of Olympia. Published by the Washington State Capitol Museum, Olympia. 

Stevenson, S., and C. R. Fowler
1997, The Port of Olympia: A 75 Year History. Researched and written by Shanna Stevenson and Chuck Fowler. Published by the Port of Olympia.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance

The tracks are currently wooden creosote-treated railroad ties and the rails are now considered substandard in this area compared to the rest of the track on the Port Marine 
Terminal. They have been consistently repaired and upgraded over the years, and the alignment altered to meet the needs of the Port of Olympia. The rails are in good condition.

Major 
Bibliographic
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View of Port of Olympia Rails as they exit the Port 
complex, view facing SE.

taken 2/8/2008
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View of Port of Olympia Rails as they enter the Port 
complex, view facing NW.

taken 2/8/2008

Photography Neg. No (Roll No./Frame No.):
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Additional Photos for: Port of Olympia Rail Line at Olympia, WA 98501
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Cladding Roof MaterialFoundation

NARRATIVE SECTION

Architect: Wohleb, Joseph

Engineer:

Date Of Construction:

Property appears to meet criteria for the National Register of Historic Places: Yes

Property is located in a potential historic district (National and/or local): No

Exports were shipped from Olympia as early as 1848. The principal exports were salmon, logs, and firewood. As shipping increased over the years, the need for a deep water port 
became acute. Dredging of the shallow harbor took place during 1909-1911 to accommodate that need. The dredging spoils were used to create much of the today’s downtown 
area north of Olympia Avenue and the Deschutes Parkway (Stevenson 1982). This dynamic dredging operation—called the Carlyon Fill after its originator, P.H. 
Carlyon—extended the original Olympia commercial area nearly a mile to the north from Olympia Avenue (Stevenson 1982), creating 29 new city blocks from over 2 million cubic 
yards of fill. 

A vote by the citizens of Thurston County later established the Port of Olympia on November 7, 1922, capitalizing on legislation in 1911 to allow the formation of port districts. The 
first vessel shipped out from the new Port of Olympia in 1925. Shipping from 1928 to 1930 totaled 298 million board feet of lumber. During WWII, The Port warehoused and 
shipped an assortment of materials for the war effort. The 1950s signified another lumber export boom period. Demand from Japan for raw logs influenced exports during the 
1960s. Port expansion includes a marina, the airdustrial center and the airport (Stevenson 1982 and 1985). 
 
The Port of Olympia Office Building was one of the many at the Port designed by Olympia Architect Joseph Wohleb between 1927 and 1949. He designed at least 12 structures 
for the Port including transit sheds, one of the docks and a cold storage building, since demolished. The Port of Olympia Office Building is the only remaining example of Joseph 
Wohleb’s work at the Port (Maddox 1985). However, another building, the KGY Radio station located at 1240 North Washington Street was later designed by Robert Wohleb and 
Associates and constructed by Philips Construction in 1960 (Stevenson 1982 and 2003). 

The Port of Olympia Office Building was constructed in 1947 and utilized by the Washington Veneer Company, which was then owned by the Weyerhaeuser Company. One year 
after completion of the building, Weyerhaeuser sold its interest in Washington Veneer to the Georgia-Pacific Corporation. Georgia-Pacific soon constructed new headquarters on 
Capitol Way and moved there in 1952 (Christie 2006). The building was then used for other purposes, such as a doctor’s office for mill employees, until the Port remodeled it as 
their headquarters in 1966 (Eric Egge, Port of Olympia, personal communication 2007). 

The Port Office Building was inventoried in 1985 and at that time determined not eligible for inclusion in the NRHP (Stevenson 1985) likely because it had not reached the 50 year 
threshold. It is not listed on the Olympia Heritage Register Properties Listing Through 2007 (City of Olympia 2007). However, this building mostly retains its original exterior 
finishes and is in good physical condition. It has been somewhat altered from its original design by replacing the wood windows with the vinyl units. Although designed by famed 
architect, Joseph Wohleb, finer examples of his work are present in southern Puget Sound. Nevertheless, the building’s historic significance lies in being the only remaining 
example of Wholeb’s 12 original designs for the Port of Olympia property. As the sole Wohleb structure and as the original administrative building associated with the historic port 
district, the Port Office building meets the criteria for the listing NRHP under Criteria A and B.

Statement of 
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�

Stevenson, S.
1982, Superior Shipping Service: A History of the Port of Olympia. Published by the Port of Olympia.
�

1985, Historic Property Inventory Form for Port of Olympia Office Building, on file at the DAHP, Olympia.

2003, Historic Property Inventory Form for KGY Radio Station, on file at the DAHP, Olympia.

City of Olympia
2007, City of Olympia Heritage Register Properties Listing Through 2007. Available online at http://www.olympiawa.gov. Assessed February 2008.

Description of 
Physical 
Appearance

This rectangular two-story structure was constructed in the Art Moderne style of painted concrete blocks and remains much the same as it was when originally inventoried in 1985 
by Stevenson: “Its shallow hip roof is covered with composition shingles and surrounded by a flat parapet painted a contrasting color. The walls are topped by a tiered concrete 
cornice below the parapet band, and between stories is a scalloped belt course. Across the fact of the parapet on the front (east) walls are Modern-style letters readying ‘PORT 
OF OLYMPIA – GENERAL OFFICE.’ Centered on the façade is a one-story, flat-roofed porch with glasses-in walls; the porch shelters the main entry door with its glass block 
sidelights. Fenestration is a single, paired and tripartite double-hung sash with narrow horizontal mullions and projecting concrete sills. A two-story extension to the south has 
similar fenestration and a side-entry door. The building is maintained in good condition.”

The building today continues to be used by the Port of Olympia as an office building. The interior was remodeled in 1966 when the Port moved in (Eric Egge, Port of Olympia, 
personal communication). The exterior of the building is close to original, except the windows have been replaced with vinyl units. The building is maintained and in good condition.
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View of Port of Olympia General Office Building, close up 
front entrance.

taken 12/6/2007

Photography Neg. No (Roll No./Frame No.):
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View of Port of Olympia General Office Building, view 
facing northeast.

taken 12/6/2007

Photography Neg. No (Roll No./Frame No.):
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Additional Photos for: Port of Olympia Office at 915 NE Washington St, Olympia, WA 98501

View of Port of Olympia General Office Building, view 
facing northwest.

taken 12/6/2007

Photography Neg. No (Roll No./Frame No.):

Comments:

View of Port of Olympia General Office Building, view 
facing southwest.

taken 12/6/2007

Photography Neg. No (Roll No./Frame No.):
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